FILED

APR 11 2017

WASHINGTON STATE
SUPREME COURT

COA No. 33171-7-III

# COURT OF APPEALS STATE OF WASHINGTON (Div. III)



428 6 6 2017

COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION III
STATE OF WASHINGTON
By

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Appellee-Respondent,

V.

MAHADI H. ALJAFFAR

Appellant-Petitioner,

SUPERIOR COURT No. 15-2-508604 Spokane County

# PETITION FOR REVIEW

Jeffry K. Finer
Law Offices of JEFFRY K FINER, P.S.
35 West Main • Suite 300
Spokane, WA • 99201
(509) 464-7611
Attorney for Appellant

# **

#### A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner Mahadi Aljaffar, the appellant below, is currently serving his sentence in Washington State.

#### **B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION**

Mr. Aljaffar seeks review of Division Three's published decision in *State v. Aljaffar*, slip opinion attached as Appendix A. This timely petition followed.

#### C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- a. Where a non-English speaking defendant is deprived of a certified translator's services at his criminal trial, in violation of statute as well as the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments, is it adequate to review the translation only of the defendant's testimony without considering the prejudice during the entire trial, including defendant's confrontation right and right to be present?
- b. Does RCW 2.43.030 protect constitutional rights, for which a violation requires the more generous "harmlessness" review?

#### D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE & PROCEEDINGS

## a. Proceedings

On May 31, 2014, the defendant was charged with one count of

voyeurism, two counts of indecent liberties by forcible compulsion, and two counts of unlawful imprisonment all arising from an incident occurring in a Spokane bar. CP 20-22.

The state sought to have a certified translator appear at trial to assist the defendant as his native language is Arabic and he had only a rudimentary command of English. RP 4, 5-6. A courtappointed interpreter appeared who was not certified to translate for court proceedings. RP 8-11. The defense objected to the use of a non-certified interpreter. RP 6:25. The court accepted the services of the uncertified translator. RP 13.

On December 4, 2014, the defendant was convicted of one count of indecent liberties, the unlawful imprisonment count; the jury hung on the voyeurism count and one of the indecent liberty counts.

CP 116-17, 120. The defendant received a standard range sentence.

The defendant appealed, case No. 33171-7-III. He raised two issues: his right to confrontation and to be present at trial. The assignment of error included a constitutional dimension as follows:

# II. Assignment of Error

Mr. Aljaffar was denied his 6<sup>th</sup> amendment right to face his accuser and to be present at his own trial when the trial court, over his objection, permitted a non-certified Arabic interpreter to interpret the proceedings in violation of RCW 2.43.030.

Opening Brief, page iii. Following the reference hearing, the Defendant filed a supplemental brief to the Court of Appeals and assigned error to the trial court's reference hearing procedures.

## II. Assignment of Error [Supplemental Brief]

As a reference hearing on the above cause as ordered by Division III, Court of Appeals, the trial court considered only a small partial translation of the trial proceedings (a transcript prepared from a recording of only the trial testimony of Mr. Aljaffar) and made its conclusions only from the translated trial testimony of the appellant. There was no analysis of the quality of the translation of the remainder of the 6-trial witnesses, including the testimony of the accusers. From this reference hearing, no rational conclusions can be made from the record provided as to whether adequate translation/ interpretation as guaranteed by RCW 2.43.030 was provided.

Supplemental Brief at 1. In addition, the argument portion of the Supplemental Brief cites to 6<sup>th</sup> amendment standards. See Brief at 3.

On October 11, 2016, the Court of Appeals ordered a reference hearing to determine the extent of prejudice, and ordered that an audio recording of the defendant's own testimony be provided to a certified interpreter. Decision at 6.

A reference hearing was held on December 8, 2016. The trial court deemed the translation flawed but not prejudicial. Decision at

8. The matter was returned to the Court of Appeals which entered its decision on March 7, 2017, holding that the defendant preserved his objection to a non-certified interpreter, and under the abuse of discretion standard held that the trial court's weight of the evidence sustained the conviction over the identified translation errors. The appellate court held that the defendant never raised a constitutional issue to the non-certified translator and that the constitutional claims were not preserved. Accordingly, the appellate court adopted the standards under RAP 2.5(a)(3) (manifest constitutional error). The appellate court determined that there was not good cause to use a non-certified interpreter, Decision at 13, but that this error was of statutory not constitutional magnitude. Decision at 13. The court of appeals rejected the "harmless error beyond a reasonable doubt" standard in favor of the lesser standard measuring whether, "had the error not occurred, the outcome of the trial would have been materially affected."

Only Mr. Aljaffar's testimony was reviewed. Decision at 14-15.

The appellate court concluded that under the standard of RAP

2.5(a)(3) the defendant failed to show prejudice.

This timely Petition followed.

#### b. Facts.

On May 31, 2014, a go-go dancer at Irv's Bar, in Spokane County, observed the defendant in the women's bathroom. The dancer described to police the defendant's alleged sexual remarks and that he blocked her exit. The dancer reported that the defendant grabbed her, spoke in English, and rubbed his clothed erect penis against her groin. RP 93, 95-96, 98-99, 100. Another female encountered the defendant in the women's bathroom, RP 75, and she reported that he forced his way into her bathroom stall and groped her. RP 76.

The defendant, a Saudi national on a student visa, was charged with multiple counts of indecent liberties with forcible compulsion, voyeurism, and unlawful imprisonment. Pretrial, the State advised the court that a non-certified interpreter was present. RP 4. For logistical reasons, the Spokane County court administrator was "reluctant" to hire the Seattle-based certified Arabic interpreter for trial. The court proposed keeping the same non-certified interpreter that was present during the pretrial hearing. The defense objected based on the interpreter's lack of certification under RCW 2.43.030(1). RP 6.

In the court's colloquy the judge indicated that he found that the interpreter was "sufficiently qualified," being willing and having interpreted in a legal setting in the past. RP 14. No good cause findings were made.

Review of the defendant's testimony shows that, under the court's direct supervision, the translator persisted in using the third person when referring to Aljaffar's statements and numerous times narrated answers rather than merely translate.

For example, during direct the defendant testified that he was not sexually interested in women. During cross the testimony went as follows:

Q: How long has you been interested in men?

A: [by translator] When he was a teenager.

Reference Hearing RP 18. [The attached Reference Hearing transcript was prepared for the Court of Appeals. Commentary in all caps is provided by the Official Court Reporter. See Attachment B. The label [UI] indicates an unintelligible portion.]

The translation problem did not end with mixed pronouns. For example, on the subject of identification used to enter the bar the interpreter begins to take an active role in explaining questions,

leaving off the witness's answers and finally starts to make his own comments and openly leave off translating defense counsel's objections.

Q: [PROSECUTOR] What identification did you use to get inside the bar?

A: [INTERPRETER] He answered a different answer, and I will try to rephrase that question again.

[WITNESS RESPONSE [UI] they told me that I have to use identification so as to uh... the customers [UI] [INTERPRETER DOESN'T INTERPRET THE ANSWER AND OFFERS TO REPHRASE THE QUESTION.

INTERPRETER: The ID you used, what ID was it?

A: Saudi

Reference Hearing RP 18:8-9.

The defendant explained he'd been nauseated and needed privacy:

Q: You said there was an urgency for you to throw up, to vomit?

A: I feel more comfortable in a place where privacy is more. [WITNESS RESPONSE: or nobody... uh... nobody needs privacy]

He stumble over words
[INTERPRETER'S COMMENTARY]

Q: I didn't hear that.
[NO INTERPRETATION RENDERED]

A: He's thinking of saying more stuff.
[INTERPRETER'S COMMENTARY]

Q: But in fact the bathroom that you knew was a bathroom

\_

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Objection to the question. That's been very clear on numerous lines of questioning that the defendant has stated he thought the bathrooms were unisex, that there was no designation —

[INTERPRETER BEGINS TO INTERPRET BUT STOPS AND NO FULL INTERPRETATION IS RENDERED OF THE OBJECTION].

Reference Hearing RP 26. Later on the mixing of impermissible narrative and third-person errors continued:

Q: So why did you wait in the female's restroom?

A: I felt dizzy. And I needed to get some water leaned against the wall.

[WITNESS RESPONSE: Because I felt dizzy and I leaned for support against the wall.]

Q: Why didn't you go to the other stall? [INTERPRETATION: Why didn't you go to the other bathroom... the other bathroom stall?]

A: He didn't feel comfortable.

Q: You didn't feel comfortable about going to the unoccupied stall?

[INTERPRETATION: You didn't feel comfortable about the other bathroom? You didn't feel comfortable [UI]?]

A: [WITNESS RESPONSE: Tell him he is – The way he answer, he's confusing the men's bathroom from the ladies' bathroom. Reference Hearing RP 29.

Again, during cross, the prosecutor himself becomes confused:

Q: But isn't it true that security wasn't aware that that had taken place yet?

[INTERPRETATION: The security knew that this was happening?]
[WITNESS RESPONSE: What?]

[INTERPRETER: The security had an idea that this stuff was happening?]
[WITNESS RESPONSE: What does that mean? I don't understand.]

A: He didn't understand the question.

Reference Hearing RP 35. For the next pages the matter of the circumstances of when and where Mr. Aljaffar was detained by police is pursued in cross with little clarity until by Reference Hearing RP 46, the prosecution states:

PROSECUTOR: I guess the confusion the state is having — and that's why we're repeating the question — is because I thought Mr. Aljaffar indicated he was detained inside the women's bathroom.

THE COURT: Okay

PROSECUTOR: That's where the confusion is that I'm having.

THE COURT: I don't know if it's confusion or you don't agree with him. You have asked the question about eight times, and you are getting the same answer. I'm inclined to say that we're kind of done with the question, you keep using the same question over and over. We're not going anywhere. I'm sorry to interrupt. I'm a little frustrated. I don't know where we're going with all this.

\* \* \*

Q: When you were detained by security, were you still inside the bar or were you detained outside the bar?

[INTERPRETATION: When the security were you inside the bar or outside the bar?]

Reference Hearing RP 46.

A: Outside

Q: So you were on – in the process of leaving the bar?

A: No. They took him by force outside the bar, and they detained him until the police came.

Q: You weren't detained —

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Objection, Your Honor, for the Court's same frustration.

THE COURT: I'm going to sustain it. We have covered it.

PROSECUTOR: No further questions.

Reference Hearing RP 44-47. These type of errors abound and include private colloquy between the witness and translator. See Reference Hearing RP 43:25.

The court of appeals was careful to note that Aljaffar never objected to the translation issues during trial. This is incorrect.

Aljaffar himself sought to address the issue:

Q: Now at some point in time [matters relating to complaining witness leaving stall], correct?

#### A: TRANSLATOR: Yes.

Can I explain something? He answered yes, then he tries to explain the yes. Do I need to go on to explain the yes or should I wait for the next question?

PROSECUTOR: Sir, if Mr. Rae wants to follow up with you on other issues, that would be your opportunity.

DEFENSE: Your Honor, I would prefer for the Court to answer that question.

THE COURT: Well, if he's giving additional information, I think it is incumbent upon the interpreter to tell us what it is. If it is objectionable, that is another question.

So if you will go ahead, sir, and tell us what he said.
[NO INTERPRETATION IS RENDERED OF
THE EXCHANGE ABOVE]

A: Okay.

[INTERPRETER ADDRESSING WITNESS: Go ahead and finish the question. The last question, you said [UI].]

[WITNESS: [UI] I will wait for the question. [UI] question.]

He is going on with the next question.

PROSECUTOR: Well -

INTERPRETER: Can he wait until next question?

PROSECUTOR: Can you indicate on the record, though, what you just communicated to Mr. Aljaffar so we could have that as part of the record?

INTERPRETER: I was telling him about the question, Ms. Wicks was in the stall, he was starting to leave, did he observe her or not? He said, yes. And he start – he start – I stopped him. \* \* \*

Q: So when you realized that Ms. Wicks started to exit out of the *bathroom stall*, you didn't let her get out?

[INTERPRETATION: When you say that this Ms. Wicks exited the *bathroom*, you did not let her exit?]

A: Absolutely did not happen. [Witness response: That did not happen at all.]

Reference Hearing RP 30-31 (italics added). The words "bathroom" and "bathroom stall" are repeatedly mis-translated. Within moments the witness states that he is not understanding:

Q: You did not go into the *bathroom stall* that she was still in? [INTERPRETATION: You did not go into the *bathroom* that she was still in?]

INTERPRETER: He said he understood this question. There was a misunderstanding between me and him, yeah.

[INTERPRETER INTERPRETS IN THE THIRD PERSON]
[WITNESS RESPONSE: I understood the question. Tell him there is a misunderstanding going on between me and the interpreter.]

Reference Hearing RP 32:2-3 (italics added).

## **ARGUMENT**

I. THIS CASE PRESENTS A SUBSTANTIAL QUESTION WHETHER AN INTERPRETER'S COMPETENCY AND PREJUDICE CAN BE DETERMINED BY LESS THAN A FULL REVIEW OF THE TRIAL RECORD.

The jury, instructed to observe the demeanor of every witness, cannot have fairly evaluated Mahadi Aljaffar's testimony given the confusing overlay from the inadequate translation. This is a grave and substantial problem, known to the trial courts for years.

Akinmade v. INS, 196 F.3d 951, 956-57 (9thCir. 1999) (adverse credibility finding may result from a faulty translation).

In 2000, by executive order, the President of the United States issued rules to protect persons with limited English proficiency (LEP) and ordered substantial funding for state courts to organize and use certified translators in their courts of law. 65 FR 50121, Exec. Order No. 13166, 2000 WL 34508183. In 2007 the State

Court Interpreter Grant Program Act was proposed, supported by resolutions from The Conference of Chief Justices and the Conference of State Court Administrators (November 29, 2007 and January 18, 2006, respectively):

State and Federal courts have held that providing an interpreter may be necessary to ensure an LEP defendant's Sixth and Fourteenth Amendment rights to confront adverse witnesses, participate in his or her own defense, and to effective assistance of counsel, as well as to ensure fundamental fairness under the Fifth Amendment's due process clause.

## S. Rep. No. 110-436, at 2 (2008).

The importance to our non-English speaking citizens and foreign visitors cannot be overstated. In the record above, the evident difficulty injected into the trial of Mr. Aljaffar manifestly denied him an accurate and faithful translation. Small points such as failing to translate the phrase "bathroom *stall*" (in a case where it mattered which events took place in a stall and which were in the open bathroom itself) and the prevalence of the third person whenever the translator spoke for the defendant create substantial barriers to confidence in the record and consequently in the verdict.

A non-English speaking defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to an interpreter. State v. Gonzales-Morales, 138 Wash.2d 374, 379

(1999). Washington law secures the right by statute. RCW 2.43.010. When the sufficiency of the interpreter's efforts is questioned, the inquiry becomes whether the rights of the non-English speaking defendant have been protected. *State v. Ramirez–Dominguez*, 140 Wash.App. 233, 244 (2007); *State v. Teshome*, 122 Wash.App. 705, 712, (2004), *review denied*, 153 Wash.2d 1028, 110 P.3d 213 (2005).

This case had no physical evidence. The eye witness accounts and Mr. Aljaffar's defense were all the jury had to go on. In this setting, small errors in translation might be negligible, but here there was a high prevalence of errors — several on each page.

Many of the errors were manifest before the court. Some, only reviewable now that the reference hearing has taken place, show that the defendant's testimony was altered in material matters.

Given the scope of review to date, focused exclusively on the defendant's testimony, Mr. Aljaffar might as well have been left in a jail cell for all but his testimony. But from the partial transcript before the Court, it is evident that the entire trial must be reviewed.

II. THIS CASE PRESENTS A SUBSTANTIAL QUESTION WHETHER THE RIGHT TO COMPETENT TRANSLATION IS A CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT PRESERVED BY

# DEFENDANT'S OBJECTION UNDER RCW 2.43.030.

a. Constitutional rights are implicated and were the basis for trial counsel's pretrial objection to a non-certified translator.

An alien suffers prejudice if the violation "potentially . . . affect[s] the outcome of the proceedings." *Hartooni v. INS*, 21 F.3d 336 (9th Cir. 1994); see also State v. Gonzales-Morales, 138 Wash.2d 374, 379, 979 P.2d 826 (1999). Grave doubt about the accuracy and fairness of a translator's testimony is sufficient to trigger reversal. Kovac v. INS, 407 F.2d 102, at 108 (9th Cir. 1969). Error arises from: (1) direct evidence of incorrectly translated words (e.g., "bathroom" versus "bathroom stall"); (2) unresponsive answers by the witness providing circumstantial evidence of translation problems; (3) a witness's difficulty in understanding what is said to him. See also *Perez-Lastor v. INS*, 208 F.3d 773 at 778-79 (9th Cir. 2000) (reverse and remanding based on incompetent translation; prejudice based on damage to credibility). *Perez-Lastor*, at 777-78. As noted, "incorrect or incomplete translation is the functional equivalent of no translation." Perez-Lastor, at 778; see also Akinmade v. INS, 196 F.3d 951, 956-57

(9thCir. 1999) (adverse credibility finding may result from a faulty translation).

Yet the opinion below held that Aljaffar's objection under RCW 2.43.030 was insufficient to preserve constitutional issues. But RCW 2.43.030 itself preserves the constitutional rights of non-English proficient speakers to have access to competent translation as a matter of due process and confrontation under the Sixth Amendment. See *State v. Sengxay*, 80 Wn. App. 11, 16 (1995).

A material error from a violation of RCW 2.43.030 involving the interpreter's competence should be reviewed under a harmlessness standard. See State v. Gonzales-Morales, 138 Wn. 2d 374, 379 (1999) (purpose of statute governing appointment of interpreters for criminal defendants is to uphold the constitutional rights of non-English speaking persons); see also, State v. Pham, 75 Wn.App. 626, 633, review denied 126 Wn.2d 1002 (1994) (defendant's constitutional right to have interpreter means a competent interpreter). The decision below incorrectly determined that an objection to a non-certified translator was of non-constitutional dimension and incorrectly stated that Mr. Aljaffar had never indicated "any misunderstandings with the interpreter or a

breakdown in communications...." Decision at 10-11. Nevertheless, the transcript shows that the translator specifically notified the court during trial that there were issues of accuracy and understanding between the defendant and the translator. The issue of the standard for reversal should be accepted for review as well.

#### CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Mahadi Aljaffar respectfully asks this Court to vacate the opinion below and grant the Petition.