RECEIVED VIA PORTAL

Supreme Court No. 94343-5 COA No. 33171-7-III

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent

v.

MAHADI H. ALJAFFAR,

Defendant/Appellant

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT

OF SPOKANE COUNTY

ANSWER TO DEFENDANT'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

LAWRENCE H. HASKELL Prosecuting Attorney Spokane County

Larry Steinmetz Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

County-City Public Safety Building West 1100 Mallon Spokane, Washington 99260 (509) 477-3662

I. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT AND INTRODUCTION

Respondent, State of Washington, respectfully requests that this Court deny review of the Court of Appeals Division Three's published decision dated March 7, 2017 ("Opinion") attached as an Appendix to the Petition for Review.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Aljaffar was convicted by a jury on December 4, 2014, of two counts of indecent liberties and one count of unlawful imprisonment. CP 116-17, 120.

1. Summary of substantive facts underlying the charged offenses.

Victim Leslie Ellis was working at Irv's bar¹ on May 31, 2014, as a clothed go-go dancer. RP 93-94. Around midnight, Ms. Ellis used the women's restroom. RP 94. Alone in the restroom, Ms. Ellis observed the defendant inside and told him to get out. RP 95-96. The defendant walked toward Ms. Ellis, uttered sexual remarks, and blocked her exit from the restroom. RP 95-96. The defendant spoke in English to Ms. Ellis. RP 96. As the defendant got closer to Ms. Ellis, she expressed her concerns louder and louder, informing the defendant to leave her alone. RP 98.

1

¹ Irv's bar is a dance establishment located in downtown Spokane. RP 55, 107.

The defendant grabbed Ms. Ellis' arm, and pushed her against the sink. RP 95-96. As the defendant grabbed her arm, he started rubbing his clothed, erect penis against her groin. RP 96, 98-99. The defendant was extremely rough. RP 98. Ms. Ellis ultimately fought off the defendant's advances and ran out of the lavatory. RP 96, 100.

On the same day, sisters Daniele Weiler and Amber Hicks traveled to Spokane to dance, arriving at Irv's bar in the late evening hours. RP 55, 69-70, 97. Ms. Weiler, who became intoxicated, was dancing when the defendant began to grind against her on the dance floor, being "touchyfeely." RP 56-57, 60. Ms. Weiler told the defendant to leave her alone and excused herself to go to the restroom. RP 57. The defendant followed Ms. Weiler into the women's restroom. RP 58. As Ms. Weiler used the restroom stall, she observed the defendant's shoes at the foot of the stall, which concerned her. RP 59. As Ms. Weiler left the restroom, she observed the defendant's attention turn toward another female. RP 59.

Before leaving the establishment around one o'clock a.m., victim Ms. Hicks used the restroom. RP 72-73. The defendant was inside the women's restroom. RP 73. Another patron told the defendant to get out and he complied. RP 73-74. Shortly thereafter, Ms. Hicks entered and occupied one of the restroom stalls, where she then observed the defendant's shoes outside her stall. RP 75. She requested several times that the defendant leave

the restroom. RP 76. As Ms. Hicks attempted to exit the stall, the defendant forced himself into the stall with Ms. Hicks. RP 76. He grabbed Ms. Hick's breast and began groping her. RP 76. Ms. Hicks attempted to open the stall door as the defendant simultaneously tried to close it. RP 76-77. At one point, the defendant pulled Ms. Hicks against himself. RP 87. She was eventually able to exit the stall and restroom, advising bar personnel of what had occurred. RP 78-79.

At the time of trial, Mr. Aljaffar stated he was studying English in Spokane. RP 155-56. In that regard and at the start of direct examination, Mr. Aljaffar answered several questions in English before he was instructed by his lawyer to wait for the translation from the interpreter. RP 145.

Mr. Aljaffar's theory at trial was a general denial of the charges. He testified that he was gay, he entered the bar on the evening in question, and began drinking. RP 148, 150. He became sick, and entered a restroom not realizing it was designated for women. RP 151-52. Mr. Aljaffar maintained that he did not touch any woman, or become aroused inside the bar. RP 152-53. He asserted that he did not become aroused because he was very tired due to the alcohol he had consumed. RP 153, 189. He again averred that he was not interested in women. RP 154, 183. When asked on cross-examination about the assertion that he was aroused in the bar, Mr. Aljaffar claimed the victim could have fabricated her testimony. RP 186.

2. <u>Procedural history of the trial court's appointment and use of the interpreter at the time of trial.</u>

Before trial, the defense objected to using a non-certified Arabic interpreter, but then deferred to the trial court. RP 6. The trial court appointed Amad Beirouty, who testified that Arabic is his native language and English had been his second language since the calendar year 1980. RP 8. Mr. Beirouty had been interpreting for defendants for over three years in Spokane legal proceedings, and he had been qualified by various trial courts in the past. RP 9. He had not previously interpreted for a trial, but interpreted for preliminary hearings. RP 9. Mr. Beirouty did not experience any difficulty or confusion when interpreting for defendants during the previous hearings. RP 10. Mr. Beirouty also felt comfortable interpreting the Arabic dialect necessary for the defendant and had been able to communicate with the defendant "very well." RP 11.

On appeal, the court remanded the matter to the trial court for a reference hearing regarding several issues surrounding the interpreter's translation at trial. RAP 9.11(b). Prior to the hearing, the trial court employed a court certified Arabic interpreter to compare the trial transcript of Mr. Aljaffar's trial testimony to an audio recording of his trial testimony (taken by the court reporter at the time of trial). Findings of Fact - reference

hearing (12/12/16) at 1-2. Thereafter, the trial court conducted an extensive hearing. RP 296-369.

The trial court addressed several of the court of appeal's questions. The trial court found there were forty-four instances wherein the interpreter referred to the defendant in the "third person" rather than "first person," twenty-four other discrepancies, eleven instances where the trial interpreter "commented" rather than strictly interpreted the defendant's testimony, and three instances where there was no translation. After doing so, the trial court made the following finding:

First, Mr. Aljaffar's testimony was only one piece of evidence at trial. Second, the discrepancies, in this Court's opinion, do not alter the content of the Defendant's message to the jury, which was that he did not physically touch anyone inappropriately and only went into the women's restroom (apparently not knowing it was the women's restroom) on the date in question to be ill as opposed to attempting to look at or inappropriately touch a female patron of the bar. He further indicated he was interested in males and not females.

The jury ultimately rejected this version of events based on all of the testimony. To suggest that, for example, the use of the "third person" by the interpreter would change the result of the trial ignores the weight of the evidence.

It is this Courts "finding" that the discrepancies found by Ms. Noman do not rise to such a level as would change the outcome of the trial. It should be noted this Court does not condone inaccurate or inappropriate interpretation at any level, but that is a separate matter from the impact of the trial outcome.

Id. at 3-4.

III. WHY REVIEW SHOULD NOT BE ACCEPTED

Petitioner has failed to identify or demonstrate the existence of any issues meriting review under RAP 13.4(b).

A party seeking discretionary review of a court of appeals decision must demonstrate one or more of the criteria required by RAP 13.4(b) warrants review. These criteria preclude review unless (1) the decision of the court of appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) the decision of the court of appeals is in conflict with another decision of the court of appeals; (3) the case involves a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the United States; or (4) the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(1)-(4). Petitioner has not met his burden.

A. THE COURT SHOULD DENY REVIEW UNDER RAP 13.4(B)(1) BECAUSE THE COURT OF APPEALS FOLLOWED WELL-ESTABLISHED PRECEDENT AND ITS OPINION IS NOT IN CONFLICT WITH ANY DECISION OF THIS COURT.

The defendant has petitioned for review based on a general disagreement with the court of appeal's opinion. Mr. Aljaffar's petition fails

to demonstrate how the decision of the court of appeals is in conflict with any decision of this Court.

B. MR. ALJAFFAR HAS NOT IDENTIFIED ANY CONFLICTING PUBLISHED DECISION CONTRARY TO THE COURT OF APPEALS OPINION UNDER RAP 13.4(B)(2).

Where "the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals," a basis exists for a petition for discretionary review by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b)(2). Mr. Aljaffar has not identified any conflicting appellate court decision.

C. MR. ALJAFFAR'S PETITION FAILS TO ESTABLISH THE DECISION BELOW INVOLVES A SIGNIFICANT QUESTION OF LAW UNDER THE STATE AND FEDERAL CONSTITUTIONS UNDER RAP 13.4(B)(3).

The right of a defendant in a criminal case to have an interpreter is derived from the Sixth Amendment right to confront witnesses, have a fair trial, and be present at one's own trial. *State v. Gonzales-Morales*, 138 Wn.2d 374, 379, 979 P.2d 826 (1999). Accordingly, under RCW 2.43, all non-English speaking individuals in criminal proceedings are entitled to the appointment of a qualified interpreter to assist them at trial. In that regard, a defendant has a constitutional right to "a competent interpreter, [but] not necessarily a certified interpreter." *State v. Pham*, 75 Wn. App. 626, 633, 879 P.2d 321 (1994), *review denied*, 126 Wn.2d 1002 (1995). Moreover, "the standard [of review] for competence should relate to whether the rights of non-English speakers are

protected, rather than whether the interpreting is or is not egregiously poor." *State v. Teshome*, 122 Wn. App. 705, 712, 94 P.3d 1004 (2004), *review denied*, 153 Wn.2d 1028 (2005).

Mr. Aljaffar has not identified in the record any alleged translation difficulty outside of his testimony at the time of trial.

Mr. Aljaffar first claims that the appellate court did not consider the full record when making its determination; rather, it only focused on the accuracy of the translation of Mr. Aljaffar's testimony. Pet. Br. at 12-14. Mr. Aljaffar fails to identify any alleged interpreter error outside the parameters of his testimony.²

Indeed, the appellate court invited both the State and defense to address *any* factual issues related to the question of whether the use of a certified interpreter would have made a difference in Mr. Aljaffar's trial. *State v. Aljaffar*, No. 33171-7-III, 2017 WL 952667 (Wash. Ct. App. Mar. 7, 2017). The court of appeals gave some deference to the trial court's finding that in the context of the entire trial, Mr. Aljaffar was able to relay his version of events to the jury for its consideration, and, in the context of the entire trial, Mr. Aljaffar was not prejudiced. *Aljaffar*, at *6

The party seeking review on appeal has the burden of perfecting the record for review so the reviewing court has before it all of the evidence relevant to the issue. *See State v. Wade*, 138 Wn.2d 460, 464, 979 P.2d 850 (1999); *State v. Garcia*, 45 Wn. App. 132, 140, 724 P.2d 412 (1986).

With regard to Mr. Aljaffar's argument that the court of appeals did not consider the interpreter's translation of the entire trial, the court stated:

Throughout this appeal, the only complaints lodged against Mr. Beirouty pertained to the interpretation of Mr. Aljaffar's trial testimony. At the reference hearing, the parties were invited to address *any* factual issues related to the question of whether the use of a certified Arabic interpreter would have made a difference at Mr. Aljaffar's trial. Despite having the assistance of counsel and a certified interpreter, Mr. Aljaffar did not present any evidence at the reference hearing and did not challenge Mr. Beirouty's testimony that he and Mr. Aljaffar had no problems communicating. Given these circumstances, Mr. Aljaffar's argument that inadequacies existed outside of his trial testimony lacks factual support.

Aljaffar, at *6 (emphasis in the original).

Similarly, there is nothing in the record suggesting, nor any argument by Mr. Aljaffar that he was unable to keep up with the testimony, that he did not understand the interpreter, or understand the witnesses. Likewise, Mr. Aljaffar makes no claim that he, the trial court, or his trial counsel had any language difficulties with the court interpreter.

Ultimately, the court of appeals found that the trial court's factual findings supported the conclusion that the court's failure to comply with the certification requirements of RCW 2.43.030 was not prejudicial under the statute. *Aljaffar*, at *6.

Furthermore, a party's failure to raise an issue at trial generally waives the issue on appeal unless the party can show the presence of a manifest error affecting a constitutional right. RAP 2.5(a); *State v. Robinson*, 171 Wn.2d 292, 304, 253 P.3d 84 (2011). Here, Mr. Aljaffar neither preserved a constitutional claim nor makes an adequate showing of manifest constitutional error as found by the appellate court. His petition fails to demonstrate a significant constitutional question that warrants review under RAP 13.4(b)(3).

D. THE PETITION DOES NOT ADDRESS WHETHER THERE ARE ANY ISSUES OF SUBSTANTIAL PUBLIC INTEREST UNDER RAP 13.4(B)(4).

Mr. Aljarffar neither argues nor claims review is appropriate because it involves an issue of substantial public interest. Review is not merited under this prong.

IV. CONCLUSION

Mr. Aljaffar's claims are conclusory and he has not identified how he suffered any actual prejudice at the time of trial, as his defense was one of general denial. The State respectfully requests this Court deny Mr. Aljaffar's petition for review as it does not meet the criteria under RAP 13.4(b).